## In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

David Coil,

Appellant,

v.

The State of Nevada,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Feb 05 2019 02:26 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Supreme Court Case No.: 74949

Appeal from Judgment of Conviction of Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, in Case No.: C318335

# Appellant David Coil's Addendum to Opening Brief

/s/ Todd M. Leventhal

Leventhal and Associates, PLLC
Todd M. Leventhal, Esq.
NV Bar No. 8543
626 South Third Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Leventhalandassociates@gmail.com
(702) 472-8686
Attorney for Appellant

# **

#### Introduction

This direct appeal challenges a conviction from a guilty plea entered midway through a jury trial for which David Coil received a life sentence with parole eligibility after eleven years. On November 5, 2018, Coil filed an opening brief arguing that his actual conduct did not satisfy the elements of the two most serious charges to which he pleaded guilty: sex trafficking of a minor and attempted sex trafficking or a minor, rendering his guilty plea to those counts invalid. OB at 6.

After the state filed its answering brief, Coil retained undersigned to represent him on this appeal. On January 14, 2019, this Court granted Coil's motion to extend time to file either an addendum to the opening brief or a reply brief. This addendum timely follows.

## **Statement of Issues**

- I. Can this Court review the validity of Coil's guilty plea where he failed to file a motion to withdraw the plea below?
- II. Did the trial court deprive Coil of the right to self-representation when Coil repeatedly and timely asserted that right?
- III. Was Coil's plea knowingly made where the district court entirely failed to ensure he understood the true nature of the charges, and advised Coil of the Constitutional rights he was giving up only *after* it accepted his guilty plea?

#### Statement of the Case

### A. The allegations

In September of 2016, the state filed a seven-count information charging Coil with: one count of sex trafficking of a minor and three counts of soliciting prostitution (counts one–five); and pandering and attempted sex trafficking of a minor (counts six–seven). AA 001–02. Counts one–five were based on Coil's alleged conduct with then-minor I.P. (she was 17 years old when she reported the matter to police and 18 by the time of trial, AA 113) and counts six and seven were based on Coil's conversations with an undercover Metro officer posing as a 17-year old named "Tiff." AA 001–02. Coil remained in custody pending trial and unconditionally waived his right to a preliminary hearing but invoked his right to a speedy trial, which was scheduled for November 28, 2016. AA 007, 011.

# **B.** First trial setting and competency evaluation

The parties appeared for the first trial setting but represented that the state had just disclosed additional discovery, including four additional witness interviews and a disc containing electronic evidence extracted from Coil's cell phone and other electronic devices, which defense counsel would need to view at the prosecutor's office. AA 014–15. Defense counsel indicated that Coil would need to waive his right to a speedy trial to allow additional time to review the discovery and acknowledged that, per the court clerk, the next available date was

some three months away. AA 016. The court asked Coil if he understood "what [was] going on? You're going to have to waive your speedy trial right, is that correct?" AA 016. Coil responded that this was "against [his] will" but that he did not "see an option." AA The court reset the trial for February 21, 2017. AA 019.

On January 18, 2017, and on defense motion, the court referred Coil for a competency evaluation and vacated the February calendar call and trial dates. AA 022. In February, Coil was found competent to stand trial, and the district court reset calendar call and trial in the "ordinary course" for July 24th and July 31st, respectively. AA 025.

# C. First motion to dismiss counsel and first request for self-representation

About two weeks before trial was set to begin, the court held a hearing on Coil's pro se motions to dismiss the information for pretrial delay and to dismiss counsel. AA 027. The court summarily denied Coil's motion to dismiss the information as a fugitive document and explained to Coil that, because he was represented by counsel, he could not file motions on his own behalf. AA 028–029. Coil explained that he was disheartened by defense counsel's failure to obtain his cell phone records and to locate and interview certain witnesses that he believed would be helpful to his defense, and with the lack of communication he had with his lawyer. AA 031–40. The court vouched for Coil's lawyer and explained to

Coil that his lawyer was very busy as he had "hundreds" of clients. AA 036. Also, that Coil was housed in North Valley, which made in-person even more difficult. AA 042–45. The court denied Coil's motion to dismiss counsel. AA 041.

At the July 24th calendar call, the parties represented that they were ready to proceed on the 31st. AA 048. Coil interjected that he was still dissatisfied with defense counsel's performance and asked if he had a right to "fire" him. AA 049. The court responded that Coil did not have the right to fire his counsel "because you don't pay him" and asked if Coil would instead like to represent himself. AA 049. Coil responded that he would. AA 049. The court properly warned Coil that he would be held to the same standard as a lawyer, including following the rules of evidence and criminal procedure. AA 051–52. The court then asked Coil a series of questions about whether he knew the elements of the charges he faced, the possible defenses, and the possible punishments. AA 054–55. But rather than explain to Coil the answers to these questions, none of which he knew, to see if he could understand, the court simply continued down the list until he gave up:

The court: You understand that the Court is going to order punishment for you if you are convicted of these charges? . . . And you have no idea what that is? . . . What the punishments are?

Coil: No

The court: You understand the Court could order those sentences to run consecutively or concurrently, do you know what that means?

Coil: No.

The court: You don't know what concurrent means?

Coil: No.

The court: You don't know what consecutive means?

Coil: No.

AA 055.

Coil eventually asked if he could retract his request, which the court latched on to: "So now you don't want to represent yourself? All right. I think that's very smart so you're going to go forward" with current defense counsel. AA 056. Coil did not affirmatively respond, and the hearing promptly ended. AA 056–57.

# **D.** Second request for self-representation

At the third trial setting, the attorneys represented that some additional discovery had come to light during pre-trials and requested an additional continuance. AA 059. The record does not reveal what these additional discovery issues were. AA 059 ("I did meet with the parties and they explained to me exactly what the discovery issues were, and I believe that it's a basis for a continuance so the continuance will be granted"). The court reset calendar call and trial for September 18, and 25, 2018.

At the September 18th calendar call, counsel for the state represented that both prosecutors were currently in another trial and so would seek to continue the

Honor. There's no objection from the defense." AA 063. Coil interjected that he had not discussed or agreed to the continuance with his lawyer and that he had another motion to dismiss counsel to present to the court. AA 063. He "apologize[d] it's so late" but explained that "commissary is not delivering envelopes, so I had to deliver it myself." AA 064. The state reminded the court that Coil had failed the previous *Faretta* canvass "miserably," and now represented that it was in fact ready to go to trial as scheduled. AA 064. The court declined to canvass Coil at that time and set the *Faretta* hearing for the morning before trial.

At the *Faretta* hearing, Coil stated that he was "certain" he wished to proceed without a lawyer; denied any competency or physical issues; acknowledged his right to have an attorney, his responsibility to follow court rules even in the absence of an attorney, and that a jury may view his self-representation negatively; and he explained that he had previously successfully represented himself and his wife in a bankruptcy action and had completed some college and vocational school. AA 069–070. After this exchange, Coil indicated that he would need some time to "get [his] witnesses and documents together." AA 072.

The court: Well, you're set for trial tomorrow. We are going to trial tomorrow on this case.

Coil: So, there's no way I can have a fair trial?

The court: You can have a fair trial. [Defense counsel] is ready to go . . . if you represent yourself like we've been talking about, you're going to be held to the same standard as [defense counsel]. I'm going to make him go to trial tomorrow at 1:30, so you're going to trial tomorrow at 1:30.

Coil: With no witnesses and no documents that I need?

The Court: Sir, you wanted to represent yourself. You brought this to my attention last Wednesday . . . your counsel's ready to go to trial. So your trial date is tomorrow, tomorrow at 1:30.

Coil: Okay. I cannot have a fair trial. I'm at the mercy of the Court. That means I withdraw my motion. He's now in charge because I can't proceed without my witnesses, without my documents, to represent my innocence.

AA 073.

After Coil "withdrew" his motion, the court recessed until the following afternoon.

### E. Jury trial

On the morning of trial, the state filed an amended information swapping the order of counts six and seven (the attempt sex trafficking and pandering counts pertaining to the undercover officer) and revising its theory as to count one (sex trafficking as to I.P.) to include "inducing, causing, recruiting, or maintaining" I.P. to "enter any place . . . in which prostitution is practiced, encouraged[,] or allowed for the purpose of sexual conduct or prostitution." AA 076. Defense counsel did not object to these revisions. AA 079–80.

The crux of the state's theory at trial was that Coil ran an illegal naked massage parlor out of his home and that, although sex was strictly prohibited and Coil did not make any proceeds—the women kept all the money—he encouraged the women to perform "hand jobs" and other sex acts as part of the naked "body rubs." AA 086–89. The state theorized that the women "paid" Coil by walking around his house naked and showing him the money that they made, giving him bragging rights. AA 088. Also, that Coil recruited the women and advertised their services via Craigslist, and was sometimes a paying customer himself. AA 089.

The state's first witness was an unobjected-to expert in "pimp and prostitution subculture," who testified generally about pimping and prostitution. AA 104–109. The state next called I.P., who recalled meeting Coil at a fast food restaurant to discuss the Craigslist ad in October of 2015. AA 118–19. She testified that she and another woman interviewed with Coil in his home later that day and discussed the house rules: the women were to be naked while in the house; they were required to show Coil the money they made; and no sex with clients was permitted. AA 121. She could not recall if Coil told her how to perform a "body rub" or what body parts to touch. AA 122. I.P. stated that she eventually began working in the home doing body rubs several nights per week on different customers. She estimated that she performed approximately two—three body rubs on Coil during which she touched his penis, but she could not remember if Coil

asked her to touch his penis. AA 127, 135–36. I.P. testified that in the summer/fall of 2016, she elected not to return to Coil's home and she told a former teacher and ultimately police about what had taken place. AA 154–56. After I.P.'s direct testimony and before cross-examination, the court recessed for the evening. Trial would resume at 11:00 a.m. the next day.

# F. Guilty plea and sentencing

At some point before trial resumed the next day, defense counsel notified the court that Coil wished to enter a guilty plea. AA 162. The court conducted a short plea colloquy covering just twelve pages of transcript. AA 162–74. There is no written plea agreement, and there was no negotiation with the state. The court asked Coil whether he was pleading freely and voluntarily; whether he understood he was giving up "certain" constitutional and appellate rights; and it informed Coil of the maximum penalties and that sentencing was solely up to the judge. AA 164–67. After that, the court read Coil each count in the amended information and asked Coil if he admitted them to which he responded "yes." AA 167–169. The court then found Coil's plea freely and voluntarily made and formally accepted it. AA 169–70.

After the court accepted the plea, defense counsel reminded that court that Coil may be giving up some additional rights. AA 170. The court then admonished Coil that he was also giving up his jury trial rights and certain

appellate rights but not post-conviction remedies; when Coil asked "What does that mean?" defense counsel interjected that he would explain "in the back" what Coil's post-conviction remedies would be. AA 173–174. The court did not attempt to clarify for Coil what appellate or post-conviction rights he would keep following his guilty plea. Finally, the court told Coil that the state would have the full right to argue for consecutive or concurrent time, which Coil acknowledged. AA 175. Although Coil previously expressed that he did not understand the difference between concurrent and consecutive time, AA 055, the court did not explain these terms or ask defense counsel if he had.

On November 8, 2017, Coil appeared for sentencing and "apologized for his actions." AB at 8. The court, noting that "the testimony [it] heard is that sexual favors [] were being given to" Coil imposed an aggregate sentence of life with the possibility of parole after 132 months. This reflected a sentence of five to life on the sex trafficking of a minor count related to I.P. and a consecutive six- to fifteen-year term for the attempted sex trafficking count related to the undercover officer Coil met with to discuss the Craigslist ad. AA 195.

# G. Appeal

In January of 2018, Coil filed in this Court a pro se notice of appeal and request for appellate counsel, explaining that he felt like he had been "ignored and forced through the system" below. Docs. 18-03468, 04177. This Court remanded

the case for the limited purpose of appointment of appellate counsel. Doc. 18-05055. The district court soon appointed counsel for Coil and issued a briefing schedule. Doc. 18-08950. In August of 2018, Coil moved to dismiss counsel on the basis that they had only one communication and the transcripts had not yet been received; this Court denied the motion, noting that the court recorder had received an extension to file the transcripts. Docs. 18-30476, 31730.

In November of 2018, appointed counsel filed an opening brief arguing that Coil's actual conduct in this case was limited to *facilitating* sex trafficking, rather than actual (or attempted) participation in sex trafficking. OB 12–15. Coil arranged for the women to be present in his home and provided the space and basic equipment needed for a legal massage, and he received no tangible benefit from their activities. OB 14. By entering a plea to charges beyond the scope of his actual conduct—and which doubled his sentencing exposure—Coil's plea to those counts (counts one and six) was not knowingly and intelligently made.<sup>1</sup> OB 16–17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These were the only two counts for which Coil received prison time. The court imposed a 12–30 month suspended sentence on counts two-five (the soliciting prostitution counts) with three years of probation, the only condition being 364 days in the Clark County Detention Center, all concurrent to count one. Count seven (pandering as to undercover officer) was dismissed as a lesser included offense of count six (attempt sex trafficking as to undercover officer). AA 193–95.

The state responds that Coil waived his ability to challenge his guilty plea on direct appeal because he failed to move to withdraw his guilty plea below. AB 9–10. Should this Court address the validity of Coil's plea, the state argues that it is presumptively valid because it was entered with the assistance of counsel. AB 10–11. The state argues that Coil "admitted" to committing sex trafficking during the plea canvas. AB 13.

On the heels of the state's response, Coil retained undersigned to pursue this appeal. On January 14, 2019, this Court granted Coil's motion to extend time to file either an addendum to the opening brief or a reply brief. This addendum timely follows. Coil incorporates the arguments made in the opening brief and will respond to the arguments made in the state's answering brief in a streamlined reply brief once the state answers the new claims contained in this addendum, unless this Court orders otherwise.

#### Addendum

# **Summary of Argument**

At the outset, this Court can review the validity of Coil's guilty plea because the errors that occurred during his *Faretta* canvasses and the plea colloquy clearly appear from the record, and these errors rest on legal, rather than factual, allegations. First, the district court denied Coil the right to self-representation even though he repeatedly and timely asserted that right. This is per se reversible error,

which here resulted in an involuntary guilty plea entered midway through trial and with no benefit. Second, the district court entirely failed to ensure that Coil understood the elements of the charges to which he pleaded guilty and advised him of the bulk of the Constitutional rights he was giving up only *after* it had already accepted his guilty plea. This resulted in an unknowing guilty plea that exceeded his actual conduct. Coil thus asks this Court to vacate his conviction and sentence.

## Argument

# I. This court can review the validity of Coil's guilty plea on direct appeal.

This Court will generally not review a plea-validity challenge that is raised for the first time on direct appeal unless: (1) the error clearly appears from the record, or (2) the challenge rests on legal rather than factual allegations. *Bryant v. State*, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (Nev. 1986), *superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in Hart v. State*, 116 Nev. 558, 562, 1 P.3d 969, 971 (2000); *Smith v. State*, 110 Nev. 1009, 1010 n.1, 879 P.2d 60, 60 n.1 (1994).

The deficiencies in the district court's handling of Coil's request for self-representation and the plea canvass itself clearly appear from the record before this court and rest on legal, rather than factual allegations. For these reasons, this Court may review Coil's claims that his guilty plea is invalid because (1) he was deprived of his right to self-representation; and (2) the district court entirely failed to ensure that Coil understood the elements of the charges to which he pleaded

guilty and advised him of the bulk of the rights he was giving up only *after* accepting his plea, rendering his guilty plea unknowing.<sup>3</sup>

# II. The trial court deprived Coil of the right to self-representation when Coil repeatedly and timely asserted that right.

#### A. Legal standard

"A criminal defendant has an 'unqualified right' to represent himself at trial so long as his waiver of counsel is intelligent and voluntary." Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997, 1000, 946 P.2d 148, 150 (1997). "Denial of that right is per se reversible error." *Hymon v. State*, 121 Nev. 200, 212, 111 P.3d 1092, 1101 (2005) (citing McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 177 n.8, 104 S.Ct. 944 (1984)). To ensure that the defendant is competent and that the waiver of counsel is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, the court "should conduct a Faretta canvass to apprise the defendant fully of the risks of self-representation and of the nature of the charged crime so that the defendant's decision is made with a clear comprehension of the attendant risks." Id. (internal citations and quotations omitted). A district court may deny a request for self-representation where the request is untimely, the request is equivocal, the request is made solely for the purpose of delay, the defendant abuses his right by disrupting the judicial process, or the defendant is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This appeal obviously leaves open the issue of whether ineffective assistance of counsel forced Coil to request self-representation or to enter a guilty plea.

incompetent to waive his right to counsel. *Tanksley*, 113 Nev. at 1001, 946 P.2d at 150.

#### B. Analysis

Here, the district court violated Coil's right to self-representation by coercing him to "withdraw" both of his pre-trial requests to represent himself.

When Coil first invoked his right to self-representation at the July 24th calendar call, rather than explain to Coil the consequences of self-representation, the elements of the charges against him, and the possible penalties, the Court simply asked Coil whether he knew the answers to those questions until he answered enough "no's" to become discouraged enough to ask if he could withdraw his request. AA 054–55. The court seized the moment: "So now you don't want to represent yourself? All right. I think that's very smart so you're going to go forward" with current defense counsel. AA 056. Coil did not affirmatively respond, and the hearing promptly ended. AA 056–57. The court did not tell Coil that his request, made one week before trial, was untimely.

Coil requested to represent himself a second time at the continued September 18th calendar call, at which time he apologized to the court for not having brought the motion sooner, explaining that "commissary is not delivering envelopes, so I had to deliver it myself." AA 064. Though trial was still a week away—and although the lawyers had previously agreed to three trial continuances

and had been discussing a fourth continuance to accommodate the state's schedule only moments before—the court declined to hold the *Faretta* canvas until the day before trial. AA 063–64. After a smooth start during which Coil affirmed that he was "certain" he wished to proceed without a lawyer, AA 068, the September 25th canvas abruptly ended when Coil indicated that he would need "time" to "get [his] witnesses and documents together." AA 072.

The court: Well, you're set for trial tomorrow. We are going to trial tomorrow on this case.

Coil: So, there's no way I can have a fair trial?

The court: You can have a fair trial. [Defense counsel] is ready to go . . . if you represent yourself like we've been talking about, you're going to be held to the same standard as [defense counsel]. I'm going to make him go to trial tomorrow at 1:30, so you're going to trial tomorrow at 1:30.

Coil: With no witnesses and no documents that I need?

The Court: Sir, you wanted to represent yourself. You brought this to my attention last Wednesday . . . your counsel's ready to go to trial. So your trial date is tomorrow, tomorrow at 1:30.

Coil: Okay. I cannot have a fair trial. I'm at the mercy of the Court. That means I withdraw my motion. He's now in charge because I can't proceed without my witnesses, without my documents, to represent my innocence.

AA 073.

The district court's denial of even a short continuance so that Coil could prepare to represent himself left him with no "choice" but to "withdraw" his request for self-representation. The district court erred by denying outright Coil's request for a continuance and thus his right to self-representation. *See Lyons v. State*, 106 Nev. 438, 796 P.2d 210 (1990) (examining denial of defendant's request for a trial continuance so that he could represent himself as a denial of the right to self-representation).

Coil twice asserted his right to self-representation, and stated that he was "certain" he wished to do so. The record reveals that Coil was polite and cooperative in court and at no time disruptive. *See, e.g.*, AA 016–17, 036, 041. He initially invoked his right to a speedy trial but waived it at the first trial setting (in November 2016) "against [his] will" because he did not "see an option" in light of the belatedly disclosed discovery. AA 016. He diligently prepared for trial and notified the court as early as July 2017 that he did not have certain documents necessary to his defense. AA 031–40. At that time, he was told that because he was represented by counsel, decisions about what investigation to conduct and what evidence to present at trial rested with his lawyer. AA 038–40. He sought to represent himself shortly after his request to dismiss counsel and have new counsel appointed was denied, and only after it became apparent that his relationship with

his current lawyer would not improve, which suggests that this was the true basis for his request, not a desire to further delay his trial.

The district court's denial of a short continuance so that Coil could represent himself is particularly unreasonable when cast against the fact that, only moments before Coil moved to represent himself for the second time, counsel for the state and the defense were discussing a fourth trial continuance to accommodate the state's trial schedule—something the court seemed to have no problem with. AA 062–63. Additionally, that the trial had been continued multiple times due to repeat discovery issues—something over which Coil had no control and continuously voiced his objection to. AA 016, 059.

Finally, Coil made his second request a full week before trial was set to begin. Coil had no reason to believe that this request was untimely because the court did not tell him that his prior request, which was also made one week before trial at the previous calendar call, was tardy. Regardless, Coil provided good cause for waiting until calendar call to personally deliver the motion: commissary was not delivering envelopes. AA 064. The timing and nature of Coil's request combined with his cooperative courtroom demeanor, the circumstances surrounding the request, and his prior conduct in this case makes this case distinguishable from this Court's decisions in *Vanisi* and *Lyons*, which affirmed

the denial of self-representation based on intentional delay and timeliness concerns.

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