IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Dec 05 2018 09:19 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

DAVID COIL,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 74949

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

KELSEY BERNSTEIN, ESQ. Nevada Bar #013825 Nevada Appeal Group, LLC 726 S. Casino Center Blvd., Suite 211 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 598-1299

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's claims are inappropriate for review on direct appeal because Appellant failed to challenge the validity of his guilty plea by filing a motion to withdraw guilty plea or commencing a post-conviction proceeding. Therefore, this Court should not address the merits of Appellant's claims.

Additionally, Appellant entered his plea knowingly and voluntarily. Appellant decided to plead guilty to all offenses in the Amended Information on the third day of his trial. Appellant does not get to choose what charges he pleads guilty to.

Furthermore, during canvassing Appellant admitted to committing the act of sex trafficking. The court canvassed Appellant regarding his understanding of the charges, the consequences of his plea, his waiver of rights, and the factual basis for his charges. Based on his affirmation the court accepted his plea. Therefore, Appellant knowingly and voluntarily entered his plea and this Court should affirm the Judgment of Conviction.

ARGUMENT

I.

APPELLANT WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO TRIAL AND DID NOT CHALLENGE HIS GUILTY PLEA BELOW.

A claim challenging the validity of a guilty plea may not generally be raised on direct appeal. See Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986).

Generally, challenges to the validity of a guilty plea must be raised in the district court in the first instance by either filing a motion to withdraw the guilty plea or commencing a post-conviction proceeding pursuant to NRS chapter 34. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 272, 721 P.2d at 367-68 (1986), superseded by statute as stated in Hart v. State, 116 Nev. 558, 562 N.3, 1 P.3d 969, 971 n.3 (2000) and holding limited by Smith v. State, 110 Nev. 1009, 1010 n. 1, 879 P.2d 60-61 n.1 (1994); see also O'Guinn v. State, 118 Nev. 849, 851-52, 59 P.3d 488, 489-90 (2002).

The record does not indicate that Appellant challenged the validity of his guilty plea in district court. This failure to petition for withdrawal of his guilty plea bars consideration of an attack regarding the validity of the plea. Therefore, failure

to preserve this issue below results in a waiver of the argument on appeal. <u>Dermody v. City of Reno</u>, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997); <u>Guy v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 584 (1992), cert. denied, 507, U.S. 1009, 113 S. Ct. 1656 (1993); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991). Therefore, Appellant's claims are not appropriate for review on direct appeal from the judgement of conviction, and this Court should not address it. <u>Bryant</u>, 102 Nev. at 272, 721 P.2d at 368.

II. APPELLANT KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERED HIS GUILTY PLEA

In Nevada, a guilty plea is presumptively valid, particularly where it is entered into with the advice of counsel. <u>Jezierski v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991). Defendants have the burden of proving that they did not enter their pleas knowingly or voluntarily. <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 102 Nev. 268, 271, 721 P.2d 364, 367 (1986) (superseded by statute, on other grounds, by <u>Hart v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 558, 1 P.3d 969 (2000)); <u>see also Wynn v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 673, 675, 615 P.2d 946, 947 (1980).

In determining whether a guilty plea is knowingly and voluntarily entered, the court will review the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea.

Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271. The trial court must personally address a defendant at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether he understands the nature of

the charges to which he is pleading. <u>Id.</u>; <u>State v. Freese</u>, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000). However, determining whether the plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered is not contingent on the plea canvass alone, as the court "will not invalidate a plea as long as the totality of circumstances, as shown by the record, demonstrates that the plea was knowingly and voluntarily made and that the defendant understood the nature of the offense and the consequences of the plea." <u>Freese</u>, 116 Nev. at 1105. When applying the "totality of circumstances" test, the most significant factors for review include the plea canvass and the written guilty plea agreement. <u>See Hudson v. Warden</u>, 117 Nev. 387, 399, 22 P.3d 1154, 1162 (2001).

In this instant case, Appellant claims that he is not guilty of sex trafficking, but "facilitating" sex trafficking. AOB 12. Appellant does not contest the other six charges he plead guilty to. Additionally, Appellant claims that his plea was not knowingly and intelligently entered. AOB 16.

Appellant was not charged with facilitating sex trafficking. Appellant was charged with Sex Trafficking of a Child under 18 Years of Age (Category A Felony – NRS 201.300.2a1- NOC 58004) because he did willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously induce, cause, and/or recruit and/or obtain and/or maintain, IP, a child under eighteen years of age, to engage in prostitution and/or to enter any place within this State in which prostitution is practiced, encouraged or allowed for the purpose

of sexual conduct or prostitution. AA 76. Appellant does not get to choose what crimes he pleads guilty to.

In Righetti, the Defendant was charged with murder under three theories, and plead guilty to murder, but only to two of the three theories alleged. Righetti v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 388 P. 3d 643, 644 (2017). Defense did not notify the State of Defendant's position, and the State was not aware that the Defendant was only pleading guilty to certain theories. <u>Id.</u> The district court initially accepted the plea, but once the miscommunication surfaced the court revoked its acceptance and set the matter for trial. Id. at 645. In response, Defendant sought a Writ of Prohibition or Mandamus to enforce his plea. Id. The Nevada Supreme Court held that the district court properly revoked its acceptance of Defendant's guilty plea. Id. at 649. Court reasoned that the State has an almost exclusive right to decide how to The charge a criminal defendant, and while a criminal defendant has a statutory right to tender a guilty plea, he does not have a right to plead guilty a la carte to avoid the State's charging decisions. Id. at 647 citing Parsons v. Fifth Judicial Dist. Court, 110 Nev. 1239, 1244, 885 P.2d 1316, 1320 (1994), overruled on other grounds by Parsons v. State, 116 Nev. 928, 936, 10 P.3d 836, 841 (2000).

Like <u>Righetti</u>, Appellant had the choice to either go to trial or plead guilty to the negotiated charges as alleged. Furthermore, if Appellant wanted to be charged with facilitating sex trafficking, he could have offered it as an instruction at trial, yet

he chose to plead guilty. "A guilty plea is more than a confession that the accused did various acts. It is an admission that he committed the crimes charged against him." <u>United States v. Broce</u>, 488 U.S. 563, 570, 109 S. CT. 757, 102 L. Ed. 2d. 927 (1989). A defendant who makes a counseled and voluntary guilty plea admits both the acts described in the indictment and the legal consequences of those acts. <u>Righetti</u>, 388 P. 3d at 648 quoting <u>United States v. Allen</u>, 24 F.3d 1180, 1183 (10th Cir. 1994). Furthermore, Appellant admitted to committing the act of sex trafficking during his plea canvass:

THE COURT:

Sir in regards to count 1, are you pleading guilty to because in truth and in fact on or between October 16th of 2015 and August 23rd of 2016, here in Clark County, Nevada, you did willfully, unlawfully and feloniously induce, cause and/or recruit and/or obtain and/or maintain IP, a child under 18 years of age to engage in prostitution and/or to enter in any place within the state in which prostitution is practiced, encouraged or allowed for the purpose of sexual conduct or prostitution? Did you do that?

DEFENDANT:

Yes

AA 167. Therefore, it was proper to charge Appellant with sex trafficking a minor under 18 years of age. Additionally, Appellant's claim that he did not knowingly and voluntarily enter his plea is belied by the record. Appellant chose to plead guilty to all charges in the Amended Information. AA 162. In response, the court canvassed Appellant:

THE COURT: Sir, do you understand the proceedings that are

happening here today?

DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Sir, have you received a copy of the Amended

Information in your case?

DEFENDANT: Is that what it was?

MATSUDA: Yeah. DEFENDANT: Yes. Yes, I did.

THE COURT: So do you know the charges that you're facing in

this case?

DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And as to all of those charges, how do you plead?

DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: And sir, are you making this plea freely and

voluntarily?

DEFENDANT: Yes.

AA 163. Furthermore, Appellant acknowledged that he understood the rights he was giving up and the consequences of his plea:

THE COURT: Do you understand if you enter this plea, you are

waiving your constitutional rights to a trial by an impartial jury that's free of excessive pretrial

publicity prejudicial to your defense?

DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand you would be waiving your

constitutional right to confront and cross-examine

any witnesses that would testify against you?

DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You would be waiving your constitutional right to

subpoena witnesses to testify on your own behalf.

DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You would be waiving your constitutional right to

testify in your own defense?

DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You would be waiving your right to appeal this

conviction with the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved

in writing and agreed upon? So you're waiving your

right to appeal this conviction?

DEFENDANT:

Oh, yes.

THE COURT: You're waiving your right to a direct appeal of any

challenge based upon -- hold on -- you're waiving your right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any challenges based upon reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the legality of these proceedings. Do you understand that? You're waiving your right to an

appeal in this case.

DEFENDANT:

Yes.

AA 172-73. This Court should affirm Appellant's Judgment of Conviction because Appellant knowingly and voluntarily entered his plea. Moreover, a casual inspection of the record does not demonstrate that Appellant suffered prejudice or a miscarriage of justice. Martinorellan, 131 Nev. at ___, 343 P.3d at 594. To the contrary, Appellant's claims are belied by the record. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 503, 686 P.2d at 225. The record demonstrates that Appellant chose to plead guilty to all charges in the Amended Information. He also admitted to committing the act of sex trafficking. This was not a negotiated sentence; Appellant's conviction was the result of his own acts. The plea canvass establishes that Appellant knew the consequences of entering a guilty plea and knowingly and voluntarily entered his plea. Accordingly, this Court should deny Appellant's claims.

///

///

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the State respectfully requests that Appellant's Judgment of Conviction be AFFIRMED.